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Your 2 ¼-mile walking tour of the Guilford Courthouse battlefield begins at the visitor center.  Here, the 30-minute film, “Another Such Victory”, the 10-minute battle map program, and museum exhibits provide information about the battle to help explain many of the points covered in this walk.  The park walking paths are graveled, so good walking shoes will make your tour more comfortable.  Use the official park map with this tour guide.  To help you with orientation, when points on this walking tour meet with part of the park’s auto tour, the tour stop will be capitalized (i.e. TOUR STOP 1).  At the end, several 18th century military terms used in this walking guide are defined.


Directions are numbered and italicized.





























8. Continue on the trail to reach the site of the original community of Guilford Court House on your LEFT.  Rest rooms and a drinking fountain are available here at TOUR STOP 6.  An exhibit graphic, oriented to the correct viewing site, shows the court house building as it may have looked on the morning of the battle as Greene’s Continentals were moving into position.
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	This area, on both sides of the historic road trail, is reminiscent of the dense hardwood forest of 1781.  Devoid of greenery in late winter 1781, this natural obstacle slowed the British infantry advance and limited the use of their cavalry and artillery.


	On the right is the monument to Dr. David Caldwell (1909), a noted local Presbyterian minister, educator and physician.  Caldwell was also a well-known spokesman for the cause of independence in North Carolina, and, hence, a target for Tory capture.  Failing in this, they burned his valuable library of papers and books in 1781.  Beyond, on the left, are the Delaware (1888) and Maryland (1892) Monuments.  Beneath the Delaware Monument lie three soldiers killed in the battle.  Their remains were found north of the park in 1888 and removed to this site for reburial.  The Maryland Monument was dedicated to honor the service of that state’s Continental troops in the battle.


	The battle raged longest in these woods and ravines as the opposing forces clashed back and forth.  British light infantry units of Brigadier General James Webster’s far left flank pushed ahead and broke through to become the first to reach the right flank of Greene’s third line (this area is now in a housing development), while the remainder of his British units and center still struggled in the woods nearer the road.





7. At the base of the trail, turn RIGHT on the historic road trail to follow it EAST toward the third line and the courthouse site.


	Before reaching the park tour road (asphalt), take the foot trail to the LEFT.  This trail descends into a flat area where in 1781 farm fields existed in front of the third line.  Follow the trial around to the RIGHT.  After crossing the foot bridge over Hunting Creek (not mentioned in period accounts of the battle), the trial and ground begin to rise.  Stop at the exhibits telling of the fighting here.  Two replica 6-pounders cannon mark the far left of the third line occupied by the Second Maryland Regiment.





6. A foot trail to the RIGHT from the historic road trail leads uphill to the Cavalry Monument (1909) near TOUR STOP 5.  This monument also honors Peter Francisco, one of the battle’s most extraordinary soldiers, and the Marquis de Bretigny, a French volunteer fighting in the battle.  Just past the monument, a foot trail on the LEFT returns you to the historic road trail.





	In 1781, this high ground, overlooking several acres of farm fields forming an “L”-shaped area “in front of the Court House” west and south, was chosen as the position for Greene’s last defense.  Here, he placed his trusted Continentals from Maryland and Delaware and two regiments of 18-months men raised in Virginia.  Unlike the first two lines that centered on the Great Road, only the left flank of the third line touched this road.  Green was confident that these men could deliver the final blow to the British once they had been worn down by the militia to their front.  Today, this ground, wooded and hard to visualize as having been open farm and woodland, was an arena for a bloody encounter between the best units of both armies.


	Stand looking back across the ground you just walked (easier to do in winder; harder in summer!).  Try to picture the Great Road coming out from the far side across the low ground (remember, field in 1781) where the foot trail and foot bridge are today, rising and turning to connects with the historic road trail to your left.  The elite Second Battalion of Guards and Grenadiers emerging from the woods on the far side to attack the third line broke the untried Second Maryland Regiment and captured two of Greene’s four cannon(in front and moving o the right of where you are standing).  Pushing on (to your right) in triumph, the Guards were stopped by a sudden counterattack by the veteran First Maryland Regiment (turning about after the repulse of Webster to the north) and by Colonel William Washington’s dragoons.  Hit in front and on their right, the Guards were thrown back across the low ground in disorder.





Washington’s men hacked through the Guards and then turned to attack again.  The three-pounders of the Royal Artillery, on Cornwallis’ orders, opened fire from the opposite side of the field.  The scatter-gun effect of the grapeshot stopped the horsemen, but struck down some of the Guardsmen and Marylanders, locked in brutal hand-to-hand struggle.  Washington’s horsemen galloped off leaving the Marylanders unsupported.  Greene’s decision to abandon the field at Guilford Court House had already been made.  The Marylanders joined the rest of the American army as it withdrew, leaving behind all of its artillery.  The Royal Welch (Welsh) Fusiliers and the 71st  Highlanders, coming out of their fight in the woods, pursued the defeated rebels for about two miles before being recalled by Cornwallis.





	The community of Guilford Court House stood at the intersection of the Road to Reedy Fork (not marked), Greene’s retreat route, and the Great Salisbury Wagon Road in 1781.  The court house building was finished about 1775 and was used as a field hospital after the battle.  In 1785 the town was officially named Martinville.  In 1808, the county seat was relocated six miles south and the new court house community there was named Greensboro in honor of Nathanael Greene.  Today, there are no visible remains of the small wooden structure or of the surrounding community, which in 1781 was home to less than a hundred people.





9. From TOUR STOP 6 return to the foot trail at the third line position and continue back on the trail across the low ground again.  After crossing the foot bridge take the trail to the RIGHT and cross another bridge.





	Notice the change of the ground as you walk west away from the third line.  In 1781, this ground was very accommodating to Greene’s position by forcing the British troops to be channeled out of the woods into unfavorable ground and onto the bayonets of his regulars.





Guilford Courthouse





	The Third Line or Regulars Monument placed on the then believed position in 1910, honors Greene’s 1,400 dependable Continental troops.  An exhibit beside the trail tells of the British Army at Guilford Courthouse.  The small monument in the middle of the field honors Lt. Colonel James Stuart (1888), the only memorial to the British army on this battlefield.  Stuart (or Stewart), commander of the Second Guards, was killed in the bloody encounter with the First Maryland Regiment on the third line field.  Stuart’s sword was found near this location in 1866, a relic of the hand-to-hand struggle that killed its owner (the present whereabouts of the sword is unknown).





11. From the British Soldier exhibit continue on the foot trail (LEFT) NEAR tour stop 7.  This trail will pass through a ravine and woods that were a part of the second line area.  Farther on, take the trail to the RIGHT (west) to head toward TOUR STOP 8.





	The Greene Monument was erected (1915) on a ridge occupied by the second line near the site of the New Garden or Great Salisbury Wagon Road (now represented as the historic road trail).  This important Piedmont road served as the axis of the battle and the guide for the British advance eastward toward the third line.  Two brigades of Virginia militia were centered here on the Great Road.  Brigadier General Robert Lawson’s Virginians on the right, or north side, were hit hard by fully one-half of Cornwallis’ army and driven back.  Lee’s separate action split Leslie’s front, so Stevens’ men were able to make a better defensive stand against the smaller British force in front of them.


	The Nathanael Greene Monument was erected to honor the American Patriot troops and their commander.  Dates and battles in Greene’s life and military career are listed on the base.  The sculptor and designer of this imposing memorial and its equestrian statue was Francis H. Packer.  Nearby, is the monument to North Carolina’s three signers of the Declaration of Independence – William Hooper, John Penn and Joseph Hewes.  The remains of Hooper and Penn were brought here in the 1890s and lie buried under the monument’s base.  Hewes is buried in Philadelphia where he died while serving in the Congress in 1779.


	





NOTE: Beginning in July 2001, National Park Service historians changed the position of the third line from where it had been marked since 1887.  The corrected position is now about 300 yards east.  Over the next several years the present open area of the old position will be re-planted and allowed to once again become part of the forest while the relocated position will be cleared to resemble the fields as they were in 1781.





	In 1781 New Garden Road was part of the Great Salisbury Wagon Road.  From this point the land descends westward ¼-mile to where the British army arrived and formed for battle in the early afternoon of Thursday, March 15, 1781.  Part of Joseph Hoskins’ farmstead where the British formed for battle is preserved as Tannenbaum Historic Park (a Greensboro city park), but much of the ground covered in the British attack is now taken by modern development.  Advancing toward Greene’s first line of defense, occupying an advantageous position along this ridge (where you are now standing), the center of Cornwallis’ British army had to cross Hoskins’ cornfields, muddied by recent rain, on both sides of the Great Road.  Two American six-pounder cannon in the road and 1,200 North Carolina militia, Virginia riflemen, and cavalry behind rail fences and in the woods on the flanks anxiously awaited their approach.  Greene knew their mass of musket, rifle, and artillery fire could punish, but not stop the British attack on this chilly, late winter day.


	The British attack would first break the right and then the left, sending all the militia and artillery escaping into the woods and along the road behind.  While these militiamen would later be maligned and dubbed “The Guilford Run-Aways”, the Carolinians had accomplished what their commander had asked of them.  Battle accounts indicate their fire inflicted real damage to several of the attacking British units.


	Reforming his bloodied regiments at the rail fence, Cornwallis now prepared to lead his troops into the foreboding forest ahead.


	Atop this ridge is the monument and grave of Captain James Tate, a Virginia militia officer killed 3 miles west in the mid-morning skirmishing at the Quaker settlement of New Garden.  Tate was buried where he fell, but his remains were removed to this site in 1891.


	





1. To begin the 2.25-mile walking tour, turn LEFT outside the visitor center front door.  Take the gravel path that leads across the front of the parking lot into the woods.  Continue to where the foot trail meets the bicycle trail (asphalt).  Turn RIGHT on the bicycle trail.  Continue across the tour road (look both ways!).  This path will end at New Garden Road at the park entrance.





2. Return to the foot trail (watch for cars when crossing the tour road) and turn right.  This trail follows along the rear of the position held by the brigade of North Carolina militia commanded by Brigadier General John Butler.  Men from Guilford, Rowan, Surry and Orange Counties were among those defending this position.  Proceed to TOUR STOP 2.





4. From TOUR STOP 3 take the foot trail NORTH through the woods.  The trail takes you through the area occupied by the left wing of the Virginia militia under Gen. Stevens to the General Greene and Signers’ Monuments and historic road.  There are several other monuments and exhibits on both sides of the historic road.





	On March 15, 1781 this area in the rear of the first line was a hardwood forest interspersed with natural entanglements that impeded the British soldier’s advance toward Greene’s second line.  The forest stretched east for another half mile before ending at the open fields near the Court House.


	TOUR STOP 3 exhibits tell of the delaying action by the Virginia militia forming Greene’s second line.  Here, south of the Great Road where you are now standing, Brigadier General Edward Stevens made sure his brigade fought determinedly.  As the 71st Regiment in Leslie’s right wing moved against this line, Stevens’ Virginians made numerous stands in the woods, making these tough Scots highlanders pay a high price for their advance.





EXPERIENCE YOUR AMERICA





5. Follow the historic road trail EAST toward Greene’s third line (turn RIGHT as you walk from the Greene Monument).





10. Follow the trail uphill to where it emerges into the “old” third line field opening.  Turn RIGHT on the foot trail toward TOUR STOP 7.





	Exhibits near TOUR STOP 8 tell of the fighting on the right of the second line and early park history.  Lawson’s Virginians defending this ground were hit hard by the determined attack of Webster’s British troops.


	The movement to preserve and memorialize the ground fought over during the Battle of Guilford Courthouse was begun in 1887 by David Schenck of Greensboro.  Schenck’s vision and work, and that of the organization he created, the Guilford Battle Ground Company, led to the establishment of Guilford Courthouse National Military Park in 1917, the first battlefield of the American Revolution to become a national park.





12. From TOUR STOP 8 follow the path to the historic road trail and turn RIGHT.  Cross Old Battleground Road – please watch both ways for traffic!





	In the early stages of the battle, this area in the dense hardwood forest just behind the first line, was the scene of panic and disorder as militiamen raced rearward from the advancing British.


	This area also has several interesting monuments, including one to commemorate President George Washington’s visit (1925) to the battlefield in June 1791.  Two monuments  honor women, one to patriot Martha Bell (1928) and another, with statue, to the devotion of Mrs. Kerenhappuch Turner (1902) to her seriously wounded son.  Another monument is in memory of Bugler Gillies (1898), a youngster in “Light-horse Harry” Lee’s cavalry, killed in the retreat through Guilford County a month prior to the battle.  Here, too, is the No North – No South Monument (1903), a memorial to American nationalism by the generation of the American Civil War referring to the unity of north and south during the Revolution.


	TOUR STOP 1 has information and a graphic about the action on the first line, this position being about 200 yards downhill.





13. Return to the visitor center by the foot trail to finish this walking tour.  If you have any questions about the park or its history please ask for assistance from a park ranger or park volunteer.





Glossary of 18th Century Military Terms Used in this Guide





Brigade A unit made up of several regiments; commanded by a Brigadier General.


Cavalry Soldiers mounted on horseback.  Heavily armed cavalrymen were dragoons. 


Company A basic unit within a regiment commanded by a Captain.  Ten companies made up a British regiment, 


	nine for American.


Continentals American troops raised by the Continental Congress.  Also known as Regulars.  Served 3 years or 


	“for the War”.  18-months Regiments were raised by some states for regular service, but were only 


	required to serve half the time.


Flank The far end of a line of battle, either left or right.


Front The line of battle closest to and facing the enemy.


Fusiliers An elite title given to certain regiments of British infantry.


Grapeshot A cluster of 12-24 small iron balls fired from a cannon.


Grenadier Elite infantry originally armed with hand bombs (grenades).  The right flank company in every British 


	infantry regiment was a grenadier company.


Guards The elite household troops of King George III of Great Britain.


Hessian A German soldier from Hesse-Kassel, hired by Great Britain as an ally.


Highlanders Troops raised in the highlands of Scotland for the British Army.


Militia Citizen soldiers.  By law, free male citizens, age 16-50, served tours of only three months when their 


	companies were called out by the colonial or state governor.


Patriot Supporter of the American cause of independence.  Also called rebel.


Pounder Refers to the weight of the solid iron ball fired by an artillery piece.  A six-pounder cannon fired a 6-


	pound ball; a three-pounder a 3-pound ball, &c., &c.


Regiment or Battalion The basic military unit, commanded by a Colonel, usually numbered, i.e. First Maryland 


	Regiment or Second Battalion.  Regiments at Guilford Courthouse numbered between 200-400 men due to 


	campaign losses.


Tory An American supporting the King and Parliament of Great Britain.  Also Loyalist,


Wing The right or left portion of an army in line.  The middle of the line is the center.








